
Lumley Castle, its Antecedents and its Architect

Malcolm Hislop

I F Ralph Lord Lumley is remembered at all 
today, it is possibly for his part in the Earl of 

Huntingdon's conspiracy to murder Henry IV 
and restore the deposed King Richard to his 
throne. It would, however, be a pity if the 
memory of this unhappy episode, which ended 
for Lord Lumley in his capture and summary 
execution at Chichester in January 1400, were 
to be thought of as his principal contribution 
to posterity/for the real monument to this 
fourteenth century knight, and one for which 
we should be grateful to him, is the fortified 
mansion he caused to be erected one mile east 
of Chester-le-Street, Durham, from 1389, 
when he received a licence from Bishop 
Skirlaw “ ... to rebuild, crenellate and embat­
tle his castle of Lumley”.1

Lumley Castle has received little attention 
from architectural historians,2 owing, perhaps, 
to its continuity.of occupation (most recently as 
a luxury hotel), and to two later building 
phases which have made their mark on the fab­
ric. c. 1570-80 John Lord Lumley remodelled 
the courtyard elevations and made some inter­
nal changes, and from 1721 the castle was mod­
ernized to designs by Sir John Vanburgh, an 
operation that involved the remodelling of the 
outer face of the west range and much of the 
building's interior, the addition of a staircase 
wing to the north side of the south range, and 
the refenestration of most of the external ele­
vations. However, notwithstanding the substan­
tial nature of these changes, they have failed to 
obscure the essential late fourteenth century 
character of Lumley, where many original fea­
tures survive, nor have they detracted from its 
main interest, which lies in the fact that it rep­
resents a culmination of the formal approach to 
castle design in northern England.

THE DESIGN

Lord Lumley's castle occupies an elevated 
position east of the River Wear, on the brink 
of a ravine containing one of its tributaries, 
Lumley Park Burn. It is immediately recogniz­
able as a distinct architectural type: a tightly 
planned quadrangular castle in which the 
domestic buildings are fully integrated with the 
defences (figs 1 and 2). Two and three storey 
ranges enclose the rectangular courtyard, and 
there is a taller three or four storey tower at 
each corner of the complex. Buttress turrets 
project diagonally from the western angles of 
the western towers and the outermost angles 
of the eastern towers. These turrets, as well as 
the square turrets which surmount the remain­
ing angles of the towers and those which flank 
the main gateway, are all capped by distinctive 
machicolated parapets of octagonal plan 
(fig. 9). All the principal rooms were on the 
first floor over tunnel-vaulted basements: the 
great hall and its attendant service rooms in 
the west range, the kitchen in the adjacent 
north-west tower, and the chapel in the north­
east tower. The main residential apartments 
were in the south range and towers, and the 
principal lines of communication between 
floors were the spiral staircases in the angles 
towards the courtyard.

The most striking aspect of Lumley is the 
regularity of its layout which may be said to 
rival that encountered in ecclesiastical archi­
tecture. Indeed, measurement of the building 
suggests that like many churches, the ground 
plan was laid out according to the proportional 
system of l:\/2.3 The eastern towers are the key 
to this system: they are each 35 feet wide by 
49£ feet long, dimensions that are in the







proportion  of 1:\2, the length being equal to 
the diagonal of a 35 feet square. These m ea­
surem ents w ere also used in laying out the 
w estern towers; they are the sam e width as the 
eastern  tow ers, and their 64 feet length is 
equal to tha t of the eastern  tow ers (49^ feet) 
plus the difference betw een their width and 
length (14J feet). The size of the castle’s main 
block is probably  related  to the lengths of the 
corner towers. It m easures 145J feet from  east 
to west, and 151 feet from north  to south. 
Now, the length of the eastern  tow ers m ulti­
plied by th ree  is 148^ feet, close enough to 
claim that the size of the main block was d e te r­
m ined by that of the towers. The diagonal of a 
148i feet square is 210 feet. H alf of this length 
(105 feet) is equal to the distance from  the east 
face of the east range to the east face of the 
w est range. H alf the diagonal of a 105 feet 
square is 74 feet which is equal to the width of 
the courtyard , and the in ternal lengths of the 
north  and south ranges.

This sym m etrical approach to the planning 
of Lum ley is fu rther evident in the positioning 
of the main gatew ay (fig. 6) in the centre of the 
east range. H ere, the opportun ity  for arch itec­
tural effect was not lost on the m aster m ason 
who em phasized the en trance by placing it 
betw een two projecting turrets. High up above 
the gate, the recess is spanned  by a machico- 
lated  gallery carried  on a segm ental arch with 
m ultiple cusping; im m ediately over the 
en trance, within a recessed panel, are carved 
six achievem ents of arm s which confirm the 
date  of the castle4 and which p resen ted  the late 
fou rteen th  century visitor with an em phatic 
sta tem en t of the o w ner’s allegiances. The g a te ­
way leads to the central courtyard . D irectly 
opposite  is the hall range, a building that was 
distinguished by a higher level of o rn am en ta ­
tion than the rem aining courtyard  elevations. 
T he hollow -cham fered parape t band that 
ex tends around  the courtyard  is decorated  
with square fieurons all along this side, and the 
one surviving m edieval great hall window 
(there  were th ree  altogether on this side) 
incorporates an up to date Perpendicu lar trac ­
ery p a tte rn  (fig. 3). To create  a centrepiece, 
the architect placed the inner gatew ay betw een

two sem i-octagonal turrets with m oulded bases 
and crenellated caps (fig. 4), a com position one 
might expect to find in a college ra ther than a 
castle.

The gateway is a little off-centre so that the 
architectural effect of alignm ent with the ou ter 
entrance is slightly m arred. T here is no good 
reason to believe that this was deliberate, and 
it seem s possible that it is a result of a miscal­
culation on the part of the builders, a theory 
that the following exam ination of the in terior 
appears to confirm. The inner gateway gives 
access to a small lobby, doorways on the north  
and south sides of which open to two halves of 
a corridor extending along the east side of the 
range and com m unicating with four residential 
cham bers (each was provided with a fireplace). 
From the southernm ost of these room s a sta ir­
case ascends to the upper (south) end of the 
great hall. A nother vaulted cham ber extends

Fig. 3 Lumley Castle: great hall window.



Fig. 4 Lumley Castle: inner gateway.

w estwards from  the entrance lobby as though 
it were a gate-passage. On its north side a 
doorw ay gives access to a narrow  m ural pas­
sage running parallel with it. A t the east end of 
this passage a squint or observation hatch 
looks into the main corridor,5 The west end 
com m unicates with a small room  contained 
within a rectangular building which projects 
beyond the range, and which is now concealed 
by an eighteenth  century platform , constructed 
when this side of the castle was rem odelled as 
a classical entrance front. The room  was p ro ­
vided with a fireplace and seem s to have been 
a p o rte r’s lodge associated with the inner gate­
way.

The rectangular projection was evidently 
in tended as an architectural counterpoise to 
the main gateway in the east range, for like the 
gateway it is centrally positioned. It m easures

17 feet by 25 feet, dim ensions tha t are in the 
p roportion  of 1:% 2. This is also the re lationsh ip  
tha t 25 feet bears to 35 feet, the w idth of the 
corner tow ers, so there  is little doubt tha t it 
form ed part of the original plan. 
C onsequently , it seem s reasonable  to assum e 
that this building is the stum p of a trunca ted  
tu rre t, the upper parts of which w ere sw ept 
away in the 1720s when the west front was 
rem odelled. T he division of the central section 
of the west range, which corresponds to the 
position of the tu rre t, into quasi-entrance pas­
sage and parallel corridor, m eant tha t the fo r­
m er was placed off-centre to the tu rre t and 
o u ter gateway, and this in turn affected the 
positioning of the inner gateway.

Now, given the apparen t desire on the part 
of the architect to create  an im pressive 
approach, one m ight have expected  tha t once 
inside the castle this line of approach would 
have been continued by placing the principal 
staircase at the end of the quasi-en trance p as­
sage so tha t it m ight ascend to  the low er end of 
the great hall, the trad itional point of access in 
a building of this period, perhaps with a first 
floor an techam ber within the west tu rret. 
T here is, how ever, no sign of a staircase to the 
great hall in this area. The adjoining room  to 
the north  is cut in two by an e igh teenth  cen­
tury stair, and in the n o rthern  portion  is a dis­
used newel stair which m ust form erly have 
com m unicated with one of the first floor se r­
vice room s at the low er end of the great hall. 
This stair m ay be m edieval, though if so it has 
certainly been a ltered  at a la ter date, for it is 
built out into the room  with red brickw ork 
whose character suggests a date  no earlier than 
the m id-sixteenth century. Further, it is very 
narrow  and restricted , and is unlikely to have 
been anything o th er than  a service stair.

The principal rou te  of access to the great 
hall m ust have been via the northern  half of 
the main corridor and the staircase at the 
north-east corner of the range. This could 
explain the squint connected  with the p o rte r’s 
lodge, with which this part of the corridor 
could be kept under surveillance. In addition , 
the staircase is light and airy and of generous 
proportions, very much what one m ight expect



Fig. 5 Thornton Abbey gatehouse.

of a main line of approach. The difficulty, how ­
ever, is that this staircase com m unicated first 
with the north-w est tow er which was occupied 
by the great kitchen. It is true of course that 
the service and kitchen areas were rem odelled 
in the sixteenth century, so we cannot be 
absolutely certain as to the original a rrange­
m ents. T here is a fourteen th  century tri-partite  
doorw ay arrangem ent in the wall betw een the 
north-w est tow er and the west range (the 
doorw ays have segm ental-pointed heads) 
though the spacing and relative sizes of the 
doorw ays do not suggest the sym m etrical com ­
position of large central kitchen doorw ay 
flanked by sm aller openings to the pantry and 
buttery  tha t is som etim es found in o ther 
houses of the period, at the lower end of the 
great hall.6 A t Lumley, the doorways diminish 
in size from west to east, so it is evident that

they reflect a ra th e r different arrangem ent.
The fact of the m atte r is tha t w hen the re la ­

tively sim ple linear plan of great hall, services 
and kitchen was raised to first floor level as 
part of a g rea ter in tegrated  com plex, problem s 
of planning presen ted  them selves tha t had not 
previously arisen. The architects adap ted  it as 
circum stances perm itted , and in fact, for bu ild­
ings of this period and type, there  is no norm . 
The W arkw orth donjon was so contrived tha t 
the great hall had the fam iliar opposed 
entrances in the lower ends of its side walls, 
being approached  by a grand staircase via a 
first floor an techam ber. In the low er end wall 
are a large kitchen doorw ay and two sm aller 
doorways which led respectively to the first 
floor pan try  and ground floor bu ttery , but they 
are not arranged  sym m etrically owing to the 
unusual disposition of the room s w hereby the



Fig. 6 Lumley Castle: outer gateway.

pantry is to the left, the buttery  passage in the 
centre, and the kitchen to the right. A t 
Kenilw orth Castle the great hall was en tered  
from the lower end of the side wall towards 
the courtyard  by an external staircase. The 
lower end wail contains two doorways, the 
right hand one of which com m unicated with 
the ground floor kitchen, and the left with the 
first floor services. The great hall of Bolton 
Castle was also entered  from the lower end of 
one of its side walls, but from its ou ter wall 
ra ther than the one towards the courtyard. 
P. A. F au lkner’s plan of Bolton suggests that 
the arrangem ent of doorways in its lower end 
wall was yet ano ther variation.7

Both K enilworth and W arkw orth are castles 
in which the great hall was the destination at 
the end of a long drawn out approach that p ro ­
vided an opportunity  to impress upon the visi­

tor visual m anifestations of the ow ner's  w ealth 
and im portance, and it is probably  no coinci­
dence tha t these w ere the castles of two of the 
most pow erful men in the k in g d o m / The gen­
eral principle is echoed at Bolton (fig. 14), 
albeit adap ted  to this sm aller and m ore com ­
pact building. V isitors en te red  via the main 
gatew ay in the south-east co rner of the castle, 
traversed the courtyard  to its north-w est co r­
ner, en tered  the north range, and then doubled  
back tow ards the east along a corridor before 
turning north to reach the staircase to the 
great hall. The em phasis placed on the 
approach at Lum ley suggests a sim ilar in ten ­
tion; but in a building w here sym m etry of plan 
and elevation were im portan t factors, the m as­
ter m ason was m ore lim ited in his options, and 
the seem ing logicality of placing the main stair 
im m ediately beyond the inner gatew ay m ight 
have conflicted with the m ore im portan t aims 
of exhibiting the labyrin thine characteristics of 
Lord Lum ley’s hom e to suggest a g rander 
house than was im m ediately apparen t, and of 
providing ano ther defensive elem ent in a 
building that was quite as much fortress as 
country house.

T H E  SO U R C E S O F T H E  D E SIG N

C ertain aspects of Lum ley show how very con­
tem porary  a building it was. The surviving 
great hall window has a tracery  pa tte rn  identi­
cal to that of the great hall window of c. 1387 
at W inchester College. The sam e design was 
used for the upper windows of the m onks’ d o r­
m itory of 1398-1403 at D urham  Priory. T here  
are sound reasons to suppose tha t the personal 
link betw een W inchester and D urham  was 
W alter Skirlaw, bishop of D urham  from  1388 
to 1406. Betw een 1386 and 1388 he was bishop 
of Bath and Wells. The architect of W inchester 
College, William W ynford, was m aster m ason 
of Wells C athedral from 1365, probably  until 
his death in 1405, and indeed the sam e tracery 
pattern  is found again at Wells in works of 
c. 1385-95/ Skirlaw him self was a great 
builder, lavishing m oney on the dorm itory  and 
cloisters at D urham  Priory, and on the



Fig. 7 Raby Castle: Neville 
Gateway.

Skirlaugh C hapel, and the m inster and m anor 
house of H ow den in the East Riding of 
Y orkshire; it is probable that he took note of 
contem porary  developm ents in architecture. It 
was Skirlaw who granted Lord Lumley his 
licence to crenellate.

The source for the inner gateway was almost 
certainly the octagonal-turreted  gatehouse of 
T hornton A bbey in Lincolnshire of c. 1382-9 
(fig. 5). T here are o ther fourteenth  century 
gatehouses with octagonal turrets, e.g. the

inner gatew ay of Alnwick Castle and the main 
gateways of Botha! and M axstoke castles, and 
Battle A bbey, all of the 1340s, and it is con­
ceivable tha t these could have served as m od­
els for the architect of Lum ley, but T horn ton  is 
much closer both chronologically and stylis­
tically. The slender proportions of the Lum ley 
turrets, their bases with two tiers of coping, 
their in term ediate  strings, and their decorative 
parapet band, are all rem iniscent of their coun­
terparts at T hornton.



Fig. 8 Raby Castle: Chapel Tower.

Whilst these affinities show that the m aster 
mason of Lum ley was in touch with architec­
tural achievem ents outside the northern  
region, m ost of the design can be seen as a 
developm ent of m ore local antecedents. 
C ertain aspects may have been derived from 
Raby Castle, which lies approxim ately twenty- 
one miles south-west of Lumley. A t Raby, a 
hall house o f c. 1300 was incorporated into the 
present hall range when the house was con­
verted into a castle, probably by Ralph, Fourth 
Baron Neville, in the 1350s.11 He created  an 
early exam ple of an integrated quadrangular 
courtyard castle whose irregularities testify to 
the experim ental nature of the building, and to 
the fact that its layout was partly  determ ined 
by the plan of the earlier house. The hall range 
form ed the east wing. A gatehouse (The 
Chapel Tower: fig. 8) projected from its east 
side but the main gateway was in the centre of

the west range, directly opposite  the en trance  
to the hall range, as at Lumley.

Ralph Lord N eville’s son John , the fifth 
baron, enlarged Raby under a licence to 
crenellate of 1378,12 a project that included the 
extension of the w estern gateway. This ex ten ­
sion (The Neville G atew ay: fig. 7), toge ther 
with the C hapel Tow er, probably  influenced 
the form of the ou ter gatew ay of Lum ley. All 
th ree en trances are recessed betw een rec tan ­
gular turrets; all th ree were p ro tec ted  by 
crenellated  and m achicolated galleries; the 
Neville G atew ay also has an heraldic display, 
and, around the en trance, near identical 
(though resto red) cusping to that a round  the 
m achicolation arch at Lumley. The com posi­
tions are sufficiently alike to support the sug­
gestion that the Raby gatew ays may have 
served as m odels for the architect of Lumley. 
Such a relationship  betw een the two castles is 
all the m ore plausible given the know ledge 
that R alph Lum ley was John Lord N eville’s 
ward until 1383 when he cam e of age, and tha t 
he m arried  N eville’s daugh ter E lean o r.13

Neville, or his son Ralph, the sixth baron  
(later first earl of W estm oreland), was resp o n ­
sible for ano ther castle in the vicinity of 
D urham  which has affinities with Lumley: this 
was at B rancepeth , which lies roughly midway 
betw een Lum ley and R aby .14 Though heavily 
resto red  and added to in the n ine teen th  cen ­
tury so tha t m any of its m edieval details have 
been lost, the fourteen th  century  tow ers nev er­
theless retain  diagonally projecting corner b u t­
tress tu rrets, a rare  feature  in castle building 
but one that is shared  with Lumley. O ne dif­
ference, however, is tha t w hereas at Lum ley 
these tu rre ts  were crow ned with m achicolated 
parapets of octagonal form , at B rancepeth  the 
parapets are carried up flush with the fronts 
of the tu rrets, but their sides are carried  on 
corbelled m achicolations.15 The presence on 
one of the rear corners of B rancepeth 's 
W estm orland Tow er, how ever, of an octagonal 
crown of Lum ley type (fig. 10), em phasizes the 
relationship  betw een the two buildings, and 
perhaps points to a developm ent within a 
regional style of building, for flush-fronted tu r­
ret parapets  with flanking m achicolations are



Fig. 9 Lumley Castle: 
corner turret.

also encountered  at Raby on the buttress to 
the inner north  curtain (fig. 11), and on the 
tu rrets of the ou ter gatehouse (fig. 12), both of 
which were probably parts of the works of 
1378 etc .16 The resem blance betw een the p ara ­
pets of the Raby outer gatehouse turrets, and 
those of two turrets on the B rancepeth north 
curtain (fig. 13) are striking enough to prom pt 
the suggestion that they were built by the same 
masons. In which case, B rancepeth must be 
contem porary  with, or slightly later than Raby. 
Taking into account the affinities with Lumley, 
such a date would be entirely appropriate.

W hilst Raby and B rancepeth may both have 
contributed to the design of Lumley, perhaps 
the greatest influence upon it was the castle 
begun in 1378 at Bolton in W ensleydale, 
Y orkshire, for R ichard Lord Scrope, and com ­
pleted c. 1395.17 Bolton Castle is a rem arkably 
well preserved exam ple of a quadrangular cas­
tle. The form lent itself to the kind of ordered



Fig. II  Raby Castle: north curtain.

and com pact planning with which the castle is 
associated.18 The principal residential ap a rt­
m ents were located in the west range and w est­
ern corner towers; the room s occupied by the 
offices, adm inistrative staff, dom estics and 
retainers were concentrated  in the eastern part 
of the castle; the first floor great hall occupied 
the western part of the north range. W hilst this 
arrangem ent is to a great extent reflected at 
Lumley, w here the west and south ranges co r­
respond respectively to the north and west 
ranges at Bolton, the attem pt to achieve sym­
m etry from the outset that clearly character­
izes Lumley is not so apparent at Bolton where 
the approach was less coherent. The hall range 
was situated, not opposite, but adjacent to the 
entrance (east) range. M oreover, the main 
gateway itself was not placed centrally, but was 
positioned hard up against the south-east co r­

ner tow er. N or is there  a principal inner ga te ­
way to act as an architectural focus. Instead, at 
least four entrances, none of which was given 
g reater em phasis than ano ther, gave access to 
the ranges. In addition, the two eastern  corner 
tow ers are on d ifferent alignm ents so tha t the 
en trance fron t is entirely  asym m etrical.

Such irregularity  may be explained by the 
nature of the site and the p a tro n 's  changing 
requirem ents, but although the p roportional 
system of m easurem ent that has been dis­
cerned at Lum ley was not em ployed initially, 
the m aster m ason did m ake use of it in laying 
out the next phase of the castle .19 This explains 
why the w estern part of the castle is m ore 
regular than the eastern  part, and provides evi­
dence for a move tow ards the sym m etrical 
approach tha t was taken at Lum ley at about 
the sam e time. Indeed, the Lum ley plan repre-



Fig. 12 Raby Castle: outer gateway from the south­
west.

sents a developm ent of that of Bolton. 
Now here is this b e tte r illustrated than in a 
com parison of the hall ranges. The slightly 
asym m etrical layout of the basem ent at Bolton 
appears to have been used as a m odel for the 
more form al design of Lumley. Both are 
divided into four transverse tunnel-vaulted 
cham bers, two each side of a central transverse 
passage, and linked by a corridor extending 
along the courtyard side of the range. A t the 
north end of the central passage at Bolton a 
doorway leads into a small cham ber contained 
within a tu rre t projecting from the centre of 
the range, and a staircase ascends to an 
antecham ber on the first floor of the turret, 
from which the great hall was entered. A part 
from the position of the staircase, this is very 
rem iniscent of Lumley. The dim ensions too 
are similar: both hall ranges m easure 105 feet

by 40 feet, and the size of the room s on the 
west side of the central passage at B olton, at 
22 feet 3^ inches by 16 feet 5 inches, is very 
close to that of their Lum ley coun terparts  
which m easure 23 feet by 16 feet. The diagonal 
of a 16 feet square is 22\ feet, suggesting that 
both sets of room s were designed to the p ro ­
portion of \1:2. The main difference betw een 
the two ranges is their entrances. The Bolton 
hall range was en tered  from a gatew ay in the 
north-w est corner of the courtyard , and gave 
access to the west end of the linking corridor. 
A t Lumley, the architect modified this 
arrangem ent by placing a gatew ay at the ju n c­
tion of the lateral and transverse passages, and 
so created  a m ore sym m etrical and im posing 
en trance.

This correspondence betw een the two hall 
ranges goes further. A bove the service room s 
at B olton, F aulkner identified a suite of room s 
(designated suite C), which he suggested as 
having been the apartm en ts of the high stew ­
ard by virtue o f its proxim ity to the services 
and kitchen.20 C orresponding accom m odation 
existed at Lumley, although we cannot be cer­
tain as to  its m edieval form or lines of com ­
m unication. It now gives access to a gallery at 
the low er end of the Hall, and is reached from  
the staircase at the north-east corner of the 
range. B olton 's great hall m ust have been 
heated  by an open hearth  or brazier for there 
was no fireplace, a circum stance that affected 
the design of the window em brasures which 
had flues built into the rere-arches. The sam e 
was probably true of Lumley: here, one of the 
window em brasures was converted  into a fire­
place in the sixteenth century; the presence of 
a flue in this position might have affected its 
siting. Such a conversion certainly took place 
in the great hall of the late fourteen th  century 
donjon at W arkw orth Castle, w here window 
flues were also a feature of the design.21

These parallels betw een the hall ranges lead 
to fu rther com parisons betw een the two cas­
tles. O ne sim ilarity is the form of the inner 
gateway at Lumley: a pointed  arch recessed 
beneath a segm ental arch. This arrangem ent is 
also found at Bolton in the arrangem ent of the 
courtyard  entrances, though here the distance



Fig. 13 Brancepeth Castle: north curtain.

betw een the two arches is elongated. Probably 
the only surviving m edieval fireplace at 
Lumley, apart from those in the kitchen, is in 
the fourth storey cham ber of the north-east 
tower: it has a corbelled lintel and is a type 
that was used extensively at Bolton. In addi­
tion, cinquefoil-headed windows were a princi­
pal type at both castles. A t Bolton they appear 
in the great hall, chapel, and in each of the two 
halls in the west range; they survive in the east­
ern towers at Lumley. Finally, two trefoil­
headed openings in the south wall of Lum ley’s 
north-east tow er are best paralleled by the 
openings to the belfry tu rret on the south-w est 
tow er of B olton Castle.

T H E  A R C H IT E C T  O F LU M LEY  CA STLE

The affinities betw een Lumley on the one 
hand, and B rancepeth, Raby and Bolton on

the other, may reflect the developing style of a 
locally based m aster m ason. We know that 
R ichard Lord Scrope em ployed the D urham  
m aster m ason, John  Lewyn, to build the east­
ern wing of B olton.22 We know too tha t in 1391 
Lewyn en te red  into an agreem ent with Lord 
Lum ley’s brother-in-law . Ralph Lord Neville, 
to construct roads at B rancepeth .23 These 
docum entary  references, in concert with the 
analogues discussed above, tend to confirm  
John H arvey’s tentative suggestion tha t Lewyn 
was the architect at Lum ley,24 and give c re ­
dence to Beric M orley’s idea of a D urham  
style of castle building em bracing Raby, 
B rancepeth , Lum ley and Hylton castles, for 
which Lewyn was responsible.25

Lew yn’s activities, how ever, were not con­
fined to the D urham  area. In addition  to being 
the principal m ason to the bishop and priory  of 
D urham  from  c. 1364, from 1368 he seem s to 
have occupied a sim ilar position in respect of
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the royal castles o f the northern borders, being 
in charge o f works at Bamburgh (1368), 
Carlisle (1378-83), Roxburgh (1378-88 & 
1392), and Berwick (1385); and in 1380 he 
was engaged by John of Gaunt at his 
Northumbrian castle o f Dunstanburgh.26 He 
was therefore a craftsman who worked over a

large region at the highest levels of society, 
and according to William Douglas Simpson 
“N o other master mason . . .  enjoyed anything 
like the same professional and public status in 
Northern England during the latter part of the 
fourteenth century”.27



residential architecture in the north of 
England, and Lumley was one of the three 
great masterpieces of that decade. A s the 
focus of a great rebuilding programme at 
Warkworth Castle, the first Percy earl of 
Northumberland built a great donjon on top of 
the Norman motte, which shares with Lumley 
considerable conceptual influence from  
Bolton,28 and at Wressle near Hull, his 
younger brother, Sir Thomas Percy, raised a 
quadrangular castle of his own which has dis­
tinct affinities of plan with Lumley.29 Just as 
Ralph Lord Lumley’s relationship with the 
Nevilles forges a link between the castles of 
Raby, Brancepeth and his own, a similar con­
nection exists between Lumley and the two 
Percy castles in that Lord Lumley was closely 
associated with the Earl of Northumberland in 
the defence of Berwick and the eastern march 
during the 1390s.30

Families like the Percies, the Nevilles and 
the Scropes were not only the pillars of north­
ern society, they were the bulwarks of its 
defence. A ll of them saw service along the 
northern borders, and they must not only have 
been aware of John Lewyn’s standing as the 
foremost military architect of the region, but 
on occasion must have worked in association 
with him. This was certainly true at Carlisle 
Castle where Lewyn built a new outer gate­
house between 1378 and 1383, probably to 
accommodate the keeper of the castle, a posi­
tion to which Richard Lord Scrope was 
appointed in 1381.31 Sir Thomas Percy too 
must have known Lewyn since his tenure as 
constable of Roxburgh Castle between 1 
Decem ber 1378 and 1 May 138132 coincided 
with Lewyn’s presence there as the master­
mind behind a major reconstruction pro­
gramme which took nearly ten years to 
complete,33 and the Earl o f Northumberland 
probably came into contact with him at 
Berwick, when Lewyn was charged with effect­
ing repairs there in 1385. Not only was he a 
key figure in the organization of the northern 
defences, but his work at Bolton meant that he 
was experienced in dealing with problems of 
large scale domestic planning within restricted 
confines. The designer of Lumley, Warkworth

and W ressle would have found such experi­
ence invaluable. In seeking a master mason  
with the requisite artistic skill and organiza­
tional aptitude and ability, Lewyn was the 
obvious choice for a military aristocracy with 
increasingly architectural notions about its 
houses.
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